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INTRODUCTION 

Respondent Qwest Corporation (“Qwest”) hereby moves to dismiss the Amended 

Complaint that complainants AT&T Communications of the Pacific Northwest, Inc., and TCG 

Oregon (“AT&T”), Time Warner Telecom of Oregon, LLC (“Time Warner”), and Integra 

Telecom of Oregon, Inc. (“Integra”) (collectively “Complainants”) filed on January 13, 2006.  

Complainants allege violations of sections 251(b), (c), and (e) and 252(i) of the 

Telecommunications Act of 1996 (“the Act”) and of ORS 759.260 and ORS 759.275, as well as 

breach of contract.  Complainants premise their allegations upon Qwest’s agreements with 

Eschelon Telecom (“Eschelon”) and McLeodUSA Telecommunications Services, Inc. 

(“McLeod”) which were the subject of a stipulated penalty before the Commission earlier this 

year.  See Order No. 05-783 (June 17, 2005) in docket UM 1168 (“unfiled agreements” docket).   

Four significant obstacles, however, prevent Complainants from pursuing this action. 

First, whether styled as “refunds” or “damages,” Complainants in essence ask the 

Commission to award damages for alleged overcharges resulting from the differences between 

the rates paid under their interconnection agreements and the rates allegedly paid under other, 

third-party agreements (the Eschelon and McLeod agreements).  No legal basis in state law 

exists for the Commission to award damages or refunds to the Complainants.  The Commission 

is limited under state law to imposing penalties; it has no statutory authority to award the relief 

that Complainants seek.   

Second, 47 U.S.C. § 415 prohibits actions brought more than two years from the time the 

cause of action accrues.  Complainants have been well aware of the Eschelon and McLeod 

agreements at issue here because numerous states were proceeding with dockets regarding those 
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agreements since at least 2002.  Complainants have sat on their rights, and, accordingly, 

Complainants’ action is now time-barred.1 

Third, no federal law provides a private right of action under sections 251 or 252 of the 

Telecommunications Act of 1996.  Consequently, Complainants have asserted no cognizable 

claims for which this Commission can award the recovery that they seek. 

Fourth, the filed rate doctrine prohibits the Commission from awarding damages to 

Complainants. 

As a result, Qwest respectfully submits the Amended Complaint must be dismissed in its 

entirety. 

ANALYSIS 

Pursuant to ORCP 21, a motion to dismiss a complaint may be made on the bases of 

“(1) lack of jurisdiction over the subject matter, . . . (8) failure to state ultimate facts sufficient to 

constitute a claim, and (9) that the pleading shows that the action has not been commenced 

within the time limited by statute.”  ORCP 21. 

A motion to dismiss for lack of subject matter jurisdiction may either “attack the 

allegations of the complaint or may be made as a ‘speaking motion’ motion attacking the 

existence of subject matter jurisdiction in fact.”  Thornhill Pub. Co. v. Gen. Tel. & Elecs., 595 

F.2d 730 (9th Cir. 1979).  Where the jurisdictional issue is separate from the merits, the 

adjudicative body need only consider the evidence related to the jurisdictional issue, and rule on 

                                            
 1 Although Complainants have now added a “breach of contract” claim (Amended Complaint, ¶¶ 22-25), 
no doubt hoping to invoke a six-year statute of limitations under ORS 12.080, the contracts at issue are contracts 
pursuant to federal law (the 1996 Telecommunications Act), and thus ORS 12.080 does not apply.  As set forth in 
more detail below, the FCC expressly imposes a two-year statute of limitations that applies to any actions involving 
claims under the Act.  47 U.S.C. § 415; see Pavlak v. Church, 727 F.2d 1425, 1426-27 (9th Cir. 1984).  Moreover, 
no breach of contract claim would be viable in any event because there are no allegations that the complainants ever 
made a request to “opt-in” to any other agreement, and no allegations that Qwest wrongfully refused such a request.  
As such, the Complainants cannot prove facts establishing a breach of the parties’ interconnection agreements. 
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that issue, resolving factual disputes as necessary.  See id.  “No presumption of truthfulness 

attaches to plaintiff’s allegations, and the existence of disputed material facts will not preclude 

the trial court from evaluating for itself the merits of jurisdictional claims.”  Mortensen v. First 

Fed. Savs. & Loan Ass’n, 549 F.2d 884, 891 (3d Cir. 1977).  The plaintiff bears the burden of 

proving that jurisdiction does in fact exist.  Id. 

I. The Commission Has No Authority to Award Complainants’ Requested Relief 

The Commission has no authority to adjudicate private rights of action that would permit 

Complainants to recover damages or refunds for alleged overcharges in a Commission 

proceeding.  The Commission is a creature of statute.  See City of Klamath Falls v. Environ. 

Quality Comm’n., 318 Or. 532, 545 (1994).  It “possesses only those powers that the legislature 

grants and cannot exercise authority that it does not possess.”  State ex rel. State for Servs. to 

Children & Families v. Klamath Tribe, 170 Or. App. 106, 115 (2000).  In particular, an agency 

that performs judicial functions does not possess general jurisdictional powers.  Rather, its 

powers are restricted to those conferred expressly by statute or by necessary implication.  

Gaynor v. Bd. of Parole and Post-Prison Supervision, 165 Or. App. 609, 612 (2000); SAIF Corp. 

v. Wright, 312 Or. 132, 137 (1991) (“The measure of an agency’s authority to administer a 

statutory remedy is found in the statute creating the procedure.”). 

ORS 759.990 sets forth the Commission’s authority to act in response to a 

telecommunication carrier’s violations of the law.  Specifically, ORS 759.990(6) authorizes the 

Commission to assess penalties against a carrier that “violates any statute administered by the 

Public Utility Commission” or that “fails to obey any lawful requirement” made by the 

Commission.  OAR 860-016-0020(3) obligates parties to an interconnection agreement under 

Section 252(a) to “file an application with the Commission seeking approval of the agreement, or 

for approval of an amendment to an approved agreement on file with the Commission.”  No 
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other statutory provisions relate to the Commission’s authority.  Thus, ORS 759.990 is the 

Commission’s only basis for remedying Qwest’s alleged nonfiling of a Section 252 

interconnection agreement.  The Commission is expressly limited to the imposition of monetary 

sanctions only; ORS 759.990 does not permit the imposition of other types of remedies—such as 

the damages or “refunds” requested by Complainants.  Cf. Archibold v. Pub. Utils. Comm’n, 58 

P.3d 1031 (Colo. 2002) (upholding the Colorado Commission’s decision to order reparations 

where it was expressly permitted by Colorado law).  In fact, the Commission has frequently 

made clear that it has no jurisdiction to award monetary damages.  See, e.g., Dolan v. U S WEST 

Commc’ns., Inc., Order No. 00-105, docket UC 461, 2000 WL 342784, at *2 (Feb. 17, 2000) 

(finding in complaint for failure to list a business line that “the Commission cannot grant 

monetary damages requested by Complainant for lost business opportunity.  The Commission 

generally has no jurisdiction to award monetary damages.”); Schaefer v. Century of Or., Inc., 

Order No. 01-157, docket UC 569, 2001 WL 306832, at *1 (Feb. 8, 2001) (finding that no statute 

granted the Commission authority to order a utility company to pay damages for alleged 

monetary loss resulting from a disputed disconnection of service). 

Indeed, in analyzing this very question under the same facts presented in this case, the 

Oregon Attorney General’s Office has reached the same conclusion.  Prior to approving the 

stipulated monetary penalty in docket UM 1168, the Commission asked the Attorney General’s 

Office to analyze “whether the PUC has authority to require Qwest, as part of such a settlement, 

to pay money directly to competitive local exchange carriers (CLEC) on a theory assuming that 

the CLECs may have been damaged by Qwest’s failure to file.”  In an August 19, 2004 

memorandum to Chairman Beyer, the Attorney General’s Office concluded that “neither [ORS 

759.990] nor any other provides the [Commission] with authority to direct payment of a penalty 
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to one or more CLECs.”  See August 19, 2004 Memorandum from Joseph T. McNaught and 

Michael T. Weirich to Chairman Lee Beyer (a copy of which is attached as Exhibit 1).   

The Commission also lacks jurisdiction if Complainants purport to rely on ORS 759.900.  

ORS 759.900 provides: 

Any telecommunications utility which does, or causes or permits to be done, any 
matter, act or thing prohibited by this chapter or ORS chapter 756, 757 or 758 or omits to 
do any act, matter or thing required to be done by such statutes, is liable to the person 
injured thereby in the amount of damages sustained in consequence of such violation.  
Except as provided in subsection (2) of this section, the court may award reasonable 
attorney fees to the prevailing party in an action under this section. 

See also ORS 756.185.  (Emphasis added.)  ORS 759.900, by its very terms, specifically 

contemplates involvement of “the court” in any proceedings in which a person injured seeks to 

recover from a telecommunications utility.2  It does not expressly authorize the Commission to 

enforce private rights of action, and there is no basis in the statute to otherwise believe that the 

Commission is entitled to enforce these actions by implication.  See Gaynor, supra, 165 Or. App. 

at 612 (an agency’s powers are restricted to those conferred expressly by statute or by necessary 

implication).  The general provisions that govern the Commission further provide that the 

Commission may seek enforcement of statutes and ordinances relating to utilities or enforcement 

of utility laws in the courts.  ORS 756.160; ORS 756.180.  However, again, nothing provides the 

Commission with express authority to award damages or a refund based on overcharges. 

Finally, although the Commission may impose penalties, any “sums” assessed by the 

Commission must “be paid into the General Fund and credited to the Public Utility Commission 

Account.”  ORS 759.990(8).  This is precisely what Order No. 05-783 in the unfiled agreements 

docket (UM 1168) did.  Nothing in the Act permits the Commission to award damages or 

                                            
2 Consistent with ORS 759.900, the parties’ stipulation in docket UM 1168 specifically reserved the 

CLECs’ right to bring any “appropriate action” in any “appropriate forum.”  The stipulation did not purport to 
expand the Commission’s jurisdiction beyond the express language in the statute. 
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“refunds” for overcharges directly to a private party.  ORS 759.990 is the only express basis for 

the Commission’s statutory authority to award remedies.  No statute authorizes restitutional 

remedies, such as the relief that Complainants seek.   

The Commission’s Order No. 00-623 in docket ARB 1 (the “Metro One Order”) does not 

compel a different conclusion.  In that case, Metro One contended that Qwest was required to 

provide Directory Assistant Listings (“DALs”) to Metro One at the rates “set forth” in the 

parties’ interconnection agreement.  Metro One Order, at pp. 2 and 8.  Qwest contended that 

Metro One was not a telecommunications carrier providing telecommunications services, and so 

it was not entitled to access to DALs at the cost-based rates set forth in the interconnection 

agreement, and it also argued that the Commission did not have jurisdiction to assess damages on 

its unregulated affiliate.   

In the Metro One Order, the Commission agreed that it has limited authority to award 

money damages.  Metro One Order, at p. 8.  In agreeing with Metro One, however, the 

Commission based its decision on a necessary condition that is not present here:  There, the 

Commission found that the parties had agreed in their interconnection agreement that Qwest 

would provide DALs to Metro One at certain rates.  Because the Commission found that Metro 

One was a telecommunications carrier providing telecommunications services, it ruled that 

Metro One was entitled to order DALs at the cost-based rates set forth in the interconnection 

agreement, rather than the market rates that it had paid.  As a result, the Commission ruled that it 

had the authority to enforce the specific, agreed-upon terms contained in the interconnection 

agreement, and thus required Qwest to refund the overpayments that Metro One had made when 

Qwest had failed to provide it with DALs at the rate specifically agreed to by the parties’ 

interconnection agreement.  Metro One Order, at p. 9.  In contrast, in this case, the Complainants 

are not trying to enforce the terms or rates contained in their interconnection agreement.  Rather, 
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Complainants seek damages based upon Qwest’s alleged conduct outside of the terms of their 

interconnection agreements, and thus the general principle that the Commission lacks authority 

to award damages or refunds applies.3   

As the Commission knows, the Minnesota Public Utilities Commission initiated its own 

“unfiled agreements” docket in 2002.  Although Qwest argued that the Minnesota Commission 

lacked the authority to award money or bill credits to CLECs, the Minnesota Commission 

overruled Qwest’s objections and imposed two main categories of “sanctions” on Qwest:  (i) a 

fine and (ii) an order requiring Qwest to pay “restitutional relief” tracking exactly the “refunds” 

Complainants seek here.4  However, on August 25, 2004, the United States District Court for the 

District of Minnesota vacated the Minnesota Commission’s “restitutional relief” order, finding 

(as Qwest had argued) that the Minnesota Commission lacked the authority under Minnesota 

state law to impose equitable “penalties” on Qwest.  Memorandum Opinion and Order, Qwest 

Corp. v. Minn. Pub. Utils. Comm’n, Civil No. 03-3476 ADM/JSM, 2004 WL 1920970, **2-3 (D. 

Minn. Aug. 25, 2004) (copy attached as Exhibit 2 to this motion).  On November 1, 2005, the 

United States Court of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit affirmed the District Court’s ruling that the 

Minnesota Commission lacked the authority to grant restitution.  Qwest Corp. v. Minn. Pub. 

Utils. Comm’n, Nos. 04-3368, 04-3510, 04-3408 (8th Cir. Nov. 1, 2005) (copy attached as 

Exhibit 3 to this motion). 

                                            
3 The Complainants’ invoking of the so-called section 251(i) provisions (see Amended Complaint, ¶¶ 11, 

22-25) does not cure this defect.  This is especially so because despite allegations that Qwest’s alleged providing 
facilities and services to Eschelon and McLeod at lower rates or discounts than Qwest made available to them was a 
breach of these provisions, these allegations are premised on alleged Qwest conduct outside of their interconnection 
agreements.  Thus, even accepting their allegations as true, there is no Metro One-like allegation that Qwest did not 
charge to the Complainants the rates that were specifically set forth in their interconnection agreements. 

4 This is hardly surprising because both AT&T and Time Warner participated in the Minnesota case.  See 
infra, fn. 4 and accompanying text . 



 8

This ruling is important not simply because the court vacated the “refunds,” but more so 

because of the court’s refusal to imply authority for the Minnesota Commission to award 

equitable relief in the absence of express authority.  The Minnesota statutes defining that 

Commission’s authority contain what appears to be a broad grant of authority.  The Minnesota 

Commission has authority to “make an order respecting [an unreasonable, insufficient, or 

unjustly discriminatory] . . . act, omission, practice, or service that is just and reasonable,” and to 

“establish just and reasonable rates and prices.”5  However, catch-all language is not enough.  

Like its counterpart in Minnesota, an administrative agency in Oregon is limited to the authority 

specifically enumerated by statute.  Klamath Tribe, supra, 170 Or. App. at 115.  Moreover, given 

this Commission’s narrower authority to order only monetary penalties – which authority does 

not extend to the relief Complainants seek for the reasons discussed above – there is an even 

stronger case against the authority to order money damages here than in Minnesota, where two 

federal courts have held no such authority can be implied from the statutory structure.  

Accordingly, Qwest respectfully submits that the Commission lacks the authority and 

jurisdiction to award the relief Complainants seek.  As such, the Commission should dismiss the 

Amended Complaint in its entirety. 

II.  The Amended Complaint Must Be Dismissed because 47 U.S.C. § 415’s Statute of 
Limitations Precludes the Action 

A. Complainants’ Action is Barred by the Statute of Limitations 

Complainants’ action is also barred by the Federal Communications Act’s statute of 

limitations, and thus the Commission has no jurisdiction to hear the Amended Complaint.  In 

pertinent part, 47 U.S.C. § 415 provides:  

                                            
5 Minn. Stat. § 237.462, subd. 9.  Section 237.081, a complaint statute, authorizes the Minnesota Commission 

to “make an order respecting [an unreasonable, insufficient, or unjustly discriminatory] . . . act, omission, practice, or 
service that is just and reasonable” and to “establish just and reasonable rates and prices.” Minn. Stat. § 237.081, subd. 4. 
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(a) All actions at law by carriers for recovery of their lawful charges, or any part thereof, 
shall be begun, within two years from the time the cause of action accrues, and not after. 
 
(b) All complaints against carriers for the recovery of damages not based on overcharges 
shall be filed with the Commission within two years from the time the cause of action 
accrues, and not after, subject to subsection (d) of this section. 
 
(c) For recovery of overcharges action at law shall be begun or complaint filed with the 
Commission against carriers within two years from the time the cause of action accrues, 
and not after, subject to subsection (d) of this section, except that if claim for the 
overcharge has been presented in writing to the carrier within the two-year period of 
limitation said period shall be extended to include two years from the time notice in 
writing is given by the carrier to the claimant of disallowance of the claim, or any part or 
parts thereof, specified in the notice. 

 
The Federal Communications Act expressly imposes a two-year statute of limitations that applies 

to any actions involving claims under the Act.  47 U.S.C. § 415; see Pavlak v. Church, 727 F.2d 

1425, 1426-27 (9th Cir. 1984).  The statute of limitations applies, irrespective of whether the 

action is before the FCC, in federal court, or in front of a state commission.  See, e.g., Pavlak, 

supra, 727 F.2d at 1426-27 (holding that 47 U.S.C. § 415 applies to claims filed in district court 

as well as to complaints filed with the FCC); A.J. Phillips Co., v. Grand Trunk W. Railway Co., 

236 U.S. 662, 667 (1915) (finding that the predecessor provision under the Interstate Commerce 

Act limits actions “whether complaint is filed with the Commission or suit is brought in a court 

of competent jurisdiction”); Petition of SBC Tex. For Post-Interconnection Dispute Resolution 

with Tex-Link Commc’ns., Inc., under the FTA Relating to Intercarrier Comp., Ruling on Motion 

to Dismiss, 2005 WL 2834183, at 7-9 (Tex. P.U.C. Oct. 26, 2005) (finding that the two-year 

limitation applies to claims that a state commission is authorized to hear) (hereafter “SBC Tex.”). 

Section 415 applies to Complainants’ action before the Commission here because the 

Commission’s authority over disputes involving interconnection agreements derives from the 

Federal Telecommunications Act of 1996.  As the Texas Public Utility Commission made clear, 

the Commission is required to follow federal law.  See SBC Tex., 2005 WL 2834183, at 7-9.  
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“[W]ith the 1996 Telecommunications Act, Congress has offered the states, not federal funds, 

but a role as what the carriers have called a ‘deputized’ federal regulator.”  MCI Telecomms. 

Corp. v. Ill. Bell Tel. Co., 222 F.3d 323, 343-44 (7th Cir. 2000).  This Commission, therefore, is 

“voluntarily regulating on behalf of Congress.”  Id., 222 F.3d at 343.  As such, it is bound by the 

limitations expressly imposed by the Act.  Sw. Bell Tel. Co. v. Connect Communications Corp., 

225 F.3d 942, 947 (8th Cir. 2000) (“while Congress has chosen to retain a significant role for the 

state commissions, the scope of that role is measured by federal, not state law.”).  Accordingly, 

to the extent that the Complainants may attempt to rely on the state law statute of limitations for 

contract actions, ORS 12.080, for its breach of contract claim (Amended Complaint, ¶¶ 22-25), 

such attempt would have to necessarily fail because any such “breach of contract” claim would 

have to be based on actions involving claims under the Act (federal law), and not state law. 

In their amended complaint, Complainants allege that the Commission has jurisdiction 

pursuant to section 252 of the Act.  (Amended Complaint, at ¶ 5.)  Complainants further claim 

that Qwest violated sections 251 and 252 by not providing them the same interconnection 

agreements that Qwest entered into with Eschelon and McLeod.  (Id. at ¶¶ 13-15.)  Based on 

these allegations, there can be no dispute that Complainants are asserting violations that arise 

under the Act.  Any relief would have to come from the Act and correspondingly would be 

limited by the Act, which bars actions after two years. 

Complainants’ claim for refunds accrued when they discovered (or by exercise of 

reasonable diligence should have discovered) their right to apply for any relief they deemed 

appropriate.  The only Qwest/Eschelon agreement containing an alleged discount or lower rate 

was entered into on November 15, 2000.  Because that agreement was not filed with this 

Commission contemporaneously, Complainants no doubt will argue that their cause of action did 

not accrue at signing.  However, the same claims regarding an alleged discount by Qwest to 
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Eschelon were raised in the Minnesota Commission’s “unfiled agreements” proceeding and 

Complainants knew – or should have been aware with the exercise of minimal diligence – of 

those allegations no later than March 12, 2002, the date on which the Minnesota Commission 

published public notice of its decision to proceed with the unfiled agreements case.  See Notice 

and Order for Hearing, In re Compl. of the Minn. Dep’t of Commerce Against Qwest Corp. 

Regarding Unfiled Agreements, Docket No. P-421/C-02-197 (Minn. PUC), March 12, 2002 

(copy attached as Exhibit 4 to this motion).6  The filing of the amended complaint in Minnesota 

in May 2002 should start the clock regarding the McLeod agreements, as the allegations 

regarding McLeod were added at that time, and both AT&T and Time Warner had actual 

knowledge of, and in fact participated in, the Minnesota proceeding.   

Qwest contends that Complainants actually discovered (or should have, with the exercise 

of reasonable diligence, discovered) in March and May of 2002 the facts giving rise to the 

allegations in this amended complaint.  This discovery would have occurred in the Minnesota 

complaint.  AT&T was a party to that case, appeared at every hearing, submitted extensive 

prehearing, posthearing, and penalty phase pleadings, and testified during the April 2002 

hearings.  Time Warner was also a party to the Minnesota case – Time Warner was on the 

service list, filed comments on January 21, 2003, March 20, 2003 and May 19, 2003, and made 

arguments at the Minnesota Commission’s hearings.7   

In addition, in Washington, AT&T and Integra were each named defendants in a 

complaint brought by the Washington Utilities and Transportation Commission regarding certain 

                                            
6  Even if it claims ignorance of the case from public filings, Time Warner joined the service list for the 

Minnesota unfiled agreements case on June 27, 2002.  See e-mail from R. Liethen to Minnesota docket service list, 
June 27, 2002 (copy attached as Exhibit 5 to this motion).   

7  As in Oregon, the Minnesota Commission sends notices out to all CLECs and interested parties.  Since 
Integra was certificated in Minnesota in 2002, it necessarily would have also received notice of proceeding in 
Minnesota, but apparently elected not to appear. 
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unfiled agreements, and they received service on August 14, 2003.  See Complaint and Notice of 

Prehearing Conference, Wash. Utils. & Transp. Comm’n. v. Advanced Telecom Group, Inc., 

Docket No. UT-033011 (Aug. 13, 2003) (copy attached as Exhibit 6 to this motion).  Time 

Warner was an intervenor in that case.  On September 8, 2003, AT&T, Time Warner, and Integra 

attended a prehearing conference in the Washington Commission’s complaint proceeding in 

Washington in Docket No. UT-033011.  See Prehearing Conference Order, Wash. Utils. & 

Transp. Comm’n. v. Advanced Telecom Group, Inc., Docket No. UT-033011 (Sept. 10, 2003) 

(copy attached as Exhibit 7 to this motion).   

Given that Complainants have been aware of these proceedings for more than three years 

now, they are clearly precluded by 47 U.S.C. § 415.  Although this Commission opened its 

unfiled agreements docket (UM 1168) in September 2004, this provides no excuse for 

Complainants to have sat on their alleged rights for so long.  The Complainants cannot claim 

ignorance or that the statute of limitations did not begin to run until the Commission opened 

docket UM 1168.  Their claims are governed by the discovery rule, and the exercise of due 

diligence would have put them on notice as a result of the on-going proceedings in multiple 

jurisdictions elsewhere around the region.  See Pavlak, supra, 727 F.2d at 1428 (stating that the 

discovery rule determines when a statute of limitations begins to run).  The Supreme Court has 

made clear that the “and not after” language in the provision means that “the lapse of time not 

only bars the remedy but destroys the liability.”  A.J. Phillips Co., supra, 236 U.S. at 667.  A 

cause of action cannot be revived after the limitations period passes.  Because no basis exists to 

now hear the action, the Commission must dismiss the Amended Complaint against Qwest. 

B. Section 415 Precludes Complainants’ State Claims 

Section 415(b) also applies to Complainants’ state claims, including any breach of 

contract claim (Amended Complaint, ¶¶ 22-25), that might be premised on the statute of 
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limitations in ORS 12.080 for contract actions.  Its plain language reaches “all complaints against 

carriers for the recovery of damages not based on overcharges.”  This broad scope is consistent 

with Congress’ desire to enact the two-year statute of limitations and to assure national 

uniformity in the Act’s application.  See Swarthout v. Mich. Bell Tel. Co., 504 F.2d 748, 748 (6th 

Cir. 1974).  To permit varying periods of limitation from state to state would contravene 

Congress’ intent and discriminate against carriers that happen to be sued in states with more 

generous statutes of limitation.  See A.J. Phillips Co., supra, 236 U.S. at 667. 

Thus, the court in MFS Int’l, Inc., v. Int’l Telcom Ltd., 50 F. Supp. 2d 517 (E.D.Va. 1999) 

found that the mere fact that plaintiff purported to allege state law claims did not override the 

sweeping language of Section 415(b) and were precluded.  The Ninth Circuit also applied the 

two-year limitation to a plaintiff’s civil rights claims against a carrier.  See Pavlak, 727 F.2d at 

1427-28 (“When a federal statute of limitations is directly applicable to the facts, is the most 

analogous statute of limitations, and provides a reasonable opportunity to present civil rights 

claims, it is the proper statute of limitations to be applied.”).  For the same reasons, 

Complainants are precluded from attempting to assert state claims based on the very same facts 

and alleged unlawful conduct that constitutes a wrongful act under the Act. 

Because Complainants’ state claims are subject to section 415(b), they are barred by the 

two-year limitation and must be similarly dismissed.  Accordingly, Qwest respectfully submits 

that the Commission should dismiss the Amended Complaint in its entirety. 

III.  No Legal Basis Exists For Complainants’ Claims for Relief or Proposed Remedies 

A. The Amended Complaint Fails to Establish a Jurisdictional Basis for the 
Commission to Exercise Authority over Complainants’ Federal Claims 

Complainants attempt to assert violations of 47 U.S.C. §§ 251 and 252 and therefore 

allege that jurisdiction exists for this Commission to hear the claims pursuant to three provisions 
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of the Federal Telecommunications Act of 1996:  47 U.S.C. § 252(a), 47 U.S.C. § 252(e)(1), and 

47 U.S.C. § 252(i).  (See Amended Complaint, at ¶ 5.)  Neither sections 251 nor 252, however, 

provide a right of action upon which Complainants can base a claim for refunds of alleged 

overcharges.   

The statutory provisions upon which Complainants rely do not confer jurisdiction, and 

therefore do not provide a basis for the Commission to exercise authority over Complainants’ 

federal law claims, notwithstanding their assertions to the contrary.  Even a cursory examination 

of these two sections makes clear that they do not grant a private right of action to Complainants.   

Aside from conclusory allegations that Qwest violated section 251 and an inaccurate 

averment that section 251(b) and (c) both obligate Qwest to provide access to and 

interconnection with its network “on rates, terms, and conditions that are just, reasonable, and 

nondiscriminatory” (Amended Complaint, at ¶¶ 13, 15), and identical conclusory allegations that 

Qwest breached a provision in each of the four interconnection agreements at issue (Amended 

Complaint, ¶¶ 22-25), Complainants make no showing how section 251 gives rise to a private 

cause of action that the Commission can entertain.  Section 251 imposes duties on local 

exchange carriers relating to interconnection.  See MCI Telecomms. Corp. v. So. New England 

Tel. Co., 27 F. Supp. 2d 326 (D. Conn. 1998).  However, no private right of action exists under 

section 251.  See AT&T Commc’ns. of Cal., Inc. v. Pac. Bell, 60 F. Supp.2d 997, 1000 (N.D. Cal. 

1999) (finding no basis to assert federal subject matter jurisdiction under 47 U.S.C. §§ 206, 251, 

252, and also citing Covad Commc’ns. Co. v. Pac. Bell, No. C 98-1887 (N.D. Cal. 1998), which 

raised serious doubts about the existence of a private right of action for Section 251 violations). 

Complainants’ reliance on section 252 is similarly misplaced.  Section 252 outlines the 

procedures for negotiation, arbitration, and approval of interconnection agreements between 

telecommunications carriers.  See generally AT&T Commc’ns. of Cal., Inc. v. Pac. Bell, supra, 
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60 F.3d at 1000.  Specifically, section 252(a) permits a local exchange carrier to negotiate and 

enter into a binding prospective interconnection agreement with a requesting carrier, and also 

allows parties involved in such negotiations to ask a state commission to participate in the 

negotiations and mediate.  Complainants make no allegation that they requested to enter into 

negotiations for a prospective interconnection agreement with Qwest and that Qwest refused to 

negotiate with them.  This section therefore provides no basis for Complainants’ alleged federal 

causes of action and, importantly, is devoid of any jurisdictional language that would permit the 

Commission to hear Complainants’ purported claims.  As a result, Complainants’ reliance on this 

section is misplaced. 

Section 252(e)(1), which provides that an “interconnection agreement adopted by 

negotiation or arbitration shall be submitted for approval to the State commission” and that a 

state commission shall determine whether to approve or reject the agreement, also fails to 

provide a basis for a private right of action.  This is made even more evident by considering the 

crux of Complainants’ action.  Complainants’ stated complaint is that Qwest violated sections 

251 and 252 “[b]y providing facilities and services to Eschelon and McLeodUSA at rates or 

discounts off of rates that were lower than the rates and/or discounts that Qwest made available 

to” Complainants.  (Amended Complaint, at ¶ 15.)  This alleged harm is entirely unrelated to the 

submission of an interconnection agreement for approval and makes out no violation of the 

section upon which Complainants seem to rely.  Although subsection (e)(6) contains an express 

instance of providing for jurisdiction by allowing any aggrieved party to seek judicial review of a 

state commission’s actions, it undermines Complainants’ assertions as to any express private 

cause of action.  The provision manifests Congress’ intent to vest state commissions with the 

ability to regulate interconnection agreements in the first instance.  Moreover, while Congress 

envisioned that state commissions would play a vital role in carrying out the goals of this section, 
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there is no evidence that Congress also intended for private parties to be able to assert causes of 

action for violations of this section that would accrue to their own benefit. 

Finally, Complainants unavailingly rely on section 252(i) as a supposed basis for 

establishing the Commission’s jurisdiction over their purported private causes of action.  Section 

252(i) provides that “[a] local exchange carrier shall make available any interconnection, service, 

or network element provided under an agreement approved under this section to which it is a 

party to any other requesting telecommunications carrier upon the same terms and conditions as 

those provided in the agreement.”  It says nothing about a cause of action.  The FCC, moreover, 

has taken upon itself to clarify the import of this section and has made no provision in its 

regulations for a private right of action.  See 47 C.F.R. § 51.809.  Rule 51.809 generally makes 

interconnection agreements available to any requesting carrier but exempts incumbents that can 

prove that providing a particular interconnection agreement to a requesting carrier is either 

(1) more costly than providing it to the original carrier, or (2) technically infeasible.  Although 

this Commission, like all state commissions, has a central role in enforcing these provisions, that 

fact does not imply that any private party is also able to enforce the provisions for its own benefit, 

particularly when one considers that Congress enacted the Act for the benefit of the general 

public through more competitive markets.  See Telecommunications Act of 1996, Pub. L. No. 

104-104, purpose statement, 110 Stat. 56, 56 (1996) (“An Act to promote competition and reduce 

regulation in order to secure lower prices and higher quality of services for American 

telecommunications consumers. . . .”); accord Global NAPS, Inc. v. Bell-Atl.-N.J., Inc., 287 F. 

Supp.2d 532, 535 (D.N.J. 2003) (discussing goals of the Act). 

In sum, the Act and FCC’s federal regulations are silent on the issue and therefore 

provide no basis for assuming or implying that Congress or the FCC provided a private right of 

action to enforce the statute or regulations.  See Maydak v. Bonded Credit Co., 96 F.3d 1332, 
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1333 (9th Cir. 1996) (noting a strong presumption against private actions under the Act); Conboy 

v. AT&T Corp., 84 F. Supp.2d 492, 500 (S.D.N.Y. 2000) (finding no private right of action to 

enforce regulations promulgated pursuant to the Act).  The Amended Complaint fails to allege 

anything to the contrary, and, as a result, must be dismissed. 

B. Complainants Fail to Establish that 47 U.S.C. §§ 206 and 207 Apply 

1. Complainants’ Allegations Fail to Show Actual Injury or Damages 
 

While 47 U.S.C. §§ 206 and 207 provide a private cause of action to “persons injured” by 

a common carrier’s act or omission in violation of the original Communications Act of 1934, 

Congress set up sections 251 and 252 with the intent that state commissions address the 

negotiation, approval, and enforcement of interconnection agreements in the first instance.  

Global NAPS, supra, 287 F. Supp.2d at 544-45.  Sections 206 and 207 provide: 

In case any common carrier shall do, or cause or permit to be done, any act, matter, or 
thing in this chapter prohibited or declared to be unlawful, or shall omit to do any act, 
matter, or thing in this chapter required to be done, such common carrier shall be liable to 
the person or persons injured thereby for the full amount of damages sustained in 
consequence of any such violation of the provisions of this chapter, together with a 
reasonable counsel or attorney's fee, to be fixed by the court in every case of recovery, 
which attorney's fee shall be taxed and collected as part of the costs in the case. 

Section 207 permits any person claiming to be injured by a common carrier to complain to the 

FCC or alternatively to sue in district court.  In enacting the Act, Congress did not intend to grant 

private rights of action under all of the Act’s provisions.  Law Offices of Curtis V. Trinko, L.L.P. 

v. Bell Atlantic Corp., 305 F.3d 89, 98 (2d Cir. 2002) (stating that “a particular substantive 

provision may not provide the plaintiff with a particular right” although sections 206 and 207 

may confer upon the plaintiff the right to bring an action if the plaintiff can show an actual injury 

that results from the violation).  In this regard, Congress did not expressly provide carriers with a 

private right of action to enforce another carrier’s duty to file its interconnection agreements with 

the Commission. 
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Even assuming that sections 206 and 207 may apply, which Complainants do not even 

rely on in their amended complaint, Complainants must still point to a violation of the Act, 

separate and apart from sections 206 and 207.  The plain language of section 206 requires 

Complainants to allege (1) violation of the Act by a common carrier that (2) directly results in 

injury (3) with concrete and provable damages.  Because Complainants have not alleged 

anything more than hypothetical and speculative damages, Complainants have no basis for 

asserting a private right of action to enforce sections 251 or 252. 

Complainants apparently rely on the hope that the Commission will presume injury and 

damages by virtue of their allegations that Qwest did not file the McLeod and Eschelon 

agreements.  This hope is misplaced.  While the nonfiling of a Section 252 interconnection 

agreement may contravene a specific requirement of the Act, that does not establish per se 

discrimination against a CLEC under the Act and in fact would not even suffice to establish 

standing.  See, e.g., Ashley Creek Phosphate Co. v. Norton, 420 F.3d 934, 937-38 (9th Cir. 2005) 

(finding no standing to challenge agency’s failure to comply with procedural statute because “[a] 

free-floating assertion of a procedural violation, without a concrete link to the interest 

protected. . . does not constitute injury in fact”).  Moreover, Congress enacted these provisions to 

foster competition and benefit the general public.  See Telecommunications Act of 1996, Pub. L. 

No. 104-104, purpose statement, 110 Stat. at 56; accord Global NAPS, supra, 287 F. Supp.2d at 

535.  Thus, any alleged harm arising from Qwest’s nonfiling would not necessarily harm 

Complainants individually in a legally cognizable manner, anymore than a generalized harm 

shared by everyone.  See City of Sausalito v. O’Neill, 386 F.3d 1186, 1197 (9th Cir. 2004) 

(noting that attempting to sue on behalf of citizens does not satisfy the particularized injury 

requirement).  It should also be apparent that Complainants fail to meet prudential standing 

requirements because Congress intended to benefit the general public and did not expressly grant 
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ILECs in particular a right to sue by enacting the Act.  See id., 386 F.3d at 1199-1200 (discussing 

prudential standing requirements). 

Failure to file an interconnection agreement will not necessarily be unjust, unreasonable, 

and discriminatory unless Complainants can show that they could have opted into the agreement 

and some concrete damages as a result.  Courts have made clear that both the Act, and its 

predecessor the Interstate Commerce Act, require an actual showing of measurable damages 

resulting from the defendant’s alleged violations.  See In re Communications Satellite Corp., 97 

F.C.C.2d 82, 91, at ¶¶ 24-26 (1984); Int’l Telecomm. Exch. Corp. v. MCI Telecomm. Corp., 892 

F. Supp. 1520, 1545 (N.D. Ga.1995) (stating that “[d]amages are not presumed under the private 

right of action provided for in Section 206” of the Act).  Such an analysis is similar to what 

courts have required of plaintiffs in order to prove discrimination under 47 U.S.C. § 202(a).  See, 

e.g., Ting v. AT&T Corp., 319 F.3d 1126 (9th Cir. 2003) (“First, we ask whether the services are 

“like.”  If they are, we ask whether there is a price difference between them, and if so, whether 

the difference is reasonable.”). 

Here, Complainants’ basis for recovery is merely hypothetical and speculative, especially 

considering their conclusory, bare-bone allegations, and this is reinforced by the fact that CLECs 

do not have an absolute and automatic right to benefit from any interconnection agreement.  First, 

the Act allows a telecommunications carrier to request to opt into any interconnection agreement 

“upon the same terms and conditions as those provided in the agreement.”  47 U.S.C. § 252(i); 

47 CFR § 51.809(b).  Notably, Complainants have not alleged that they requested to opt-in or 

even attempted to negotiate with Qwest for any prospective terms, such as those that Eschelon 

and McLeod allegedly obtained.  Further, in any event, Complainants do not, and cannot, seek 

the adoption of prospective terms for an alleged discount in either the Eschelon or the McLeod 

agreements, because those agreements terminated years ago and are not prospective in nature.  
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Thus, Complainants cannot even show that they have complied with the procedures detailed in 

section 252.  Rather, they attempt to circumvent the Act by asserting a private right to recover 

without any showing of actual injury or damages.   

Second, a carrier must be willing and able to accept all legitimately related terms in an 

existing agreement.  AT&T Corp. v. Iowa Utils. Bd., 525 U.S. 366, 398 (1999).  Notwithstanding 

Complainants’ unsubstantiated allegations that they “would have adopted, or otherwise would 

have agreed to, the rates and reasonably related and legitimate terms and conditions” in the two 

agreements (Amended Complaint, at ¶ 9), the Amended Complaint falls far short of alleging that 

the Complainants could comply with the terms and conditions and would have chosen to accept 

the terms and conditions.  In short, Complainants fail to show any legally cognizable injury 

based on their allegations and any concrete damages as a result.  The mere allegation that Qwest 

may not have filed an interconnection agreement with the Commission does not by itself entitle 

Complainants to recover for overcharges or damages.  Consequently, the Amended Complaint 

fails to allege any type of cognizable injury or show any concrete, measurable damages that 

could serve as the basis for a claim and provide this Commission with jurisdiction over it.   

Accordingly, for the reasons set forth above, even if the Commission had authority to 

award Complainants any relief (which it does not), and even if the Amended Complaint was 

timely under the two-year statute of limitations of 47 U.S.C. § 415 (which it is not), there is no 

legal or jurisdictional basis for the Complainants’ claims for relief or proposed remedies.  

Further still, Complainants fail to establish that U.S.C. §§ 206 and 207 apply here in any event.  

As such, Qwest respectfully submits that the Commission should dismiss the Amended 

Complaint in its entirety. 
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IV.  Complainants’ Requested Refunds Would Violate the Filed Rate Doctrine 

Finally, the relief that Complainants request—refunds for alleged overcharges or 

damages—would violate the filed rate doctrine.  An interconnection agreement “is functionally 

no different from a federal tariff.”  Verizon Md., Inc. v. RCN Telcom Serv., Inc., 232 F. Supp.2d 

539, 552, fn. 5 (D. Md. 2002).  An interconnection agreement is not a “binding final 

agreement . . . until after the Commission reviews and approves the agreement.”  GTE Nw. Inc. v. 

Hamilton, 971 F. Supp. 1350, 1353 (D. Or. 1997).  Like a tariff, any attempt to enforce rates 

contained in an unfiled agreement that conflict with the rates contained in a filed interconnection 

agreement, would violate the filed rate doctrine.  Thus, to grant the relief that Complainants seek, 

the Commission would have to take the unprecedented measure of enforcing rates found in an 

unfiled interconnection agreement and disregard the existing rates found in the filed and 

approved interconnection agreements between Qwest and Complainants.  See Goldwasser v. 

Ameritech Corp., 222 F.3d 390, 402 (7th Cir. 2000) (holding that the filed rate doctrine barred a 

claim for damages where the filed rates in question were those in filed interconnection 

agreements approved under Section 252); see also Maislin Indust., U.S., Inc. v. Primary Steel, 

Inc., 497 U.S. 116, 126 (1990) (“The legal rights of shipper as against carrier in respect to a rate 

are measured by the published tariff.  Unless and until suspended or set aside, this rate is made, 

for all purposes, the legal rate, as between carrier and shipper.  The rights as defined by the tariff 

cannot be varied or enlarged by either contract or tort of the carrier”).  Qwest can find no 

authority to support a state commission’s ability to impose such an extraordinary remedy as 

Complainants propose.  The appropriate remedy, if any, under the filed rate doctrine would be 

the disgorgement of the difference between the tariffed rate and the non-tariffed rate by the 

parties that receive those non-tariffed rates.  
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If a regulatory statute requires rates to be filed under tariffs or similar documents to 

preclude discrimination, the filed rate prevails over any other rate—even one that was mutually 

agreed upon by carrier and customer.  Under long-standing Supreme Court precedent, the filed 

rate must be strictly enforced, notwithstanding other legal theories or equitable 

defenses.  Louisville & Nashville R.R. Co. v. Maxwell, 237 U.S. 94, 97 (1915) (“This rule is 

undeniably strict and it obviously may work hardship in some cases, but it embodies the policy 

which has been adopted by Congress in the regulation of interstate commerce in order to prevent 

unjust discrimination.”).  The filed rate doctrine precludes parties from effectively obtaining 

lower rates than the lawful filed rate, whether through a breach of contract theory, tort theory, or 

antitrust theory.  See, e.g., Square D Co. v. Niagara Frontier Tariff Bureau, 476 U.S. 409 (1986); 

AT&T Co. v. Cent. Office Tel., Inc., 524 U.S. 214 (1998). 

Under the filed rate doctrine, a carrier’s tariff is considered to “‘conclusively and 

exclusively enumerate the rights and liabilities’ as between the carrier and the customer.”  

Evanns v. AT&T Corp., 229 F.3d 837, 840 (9th Cir. 2000).  (Footnote omitted.)  Once a tariff is 

filed and approved, a common carrier like Qwest “may not deviate from its terms.”  Cahnmann v. 

Sprint Corp., 133 F.3d 484, 487 (7th Cir. 1998).  

American Telephone and Telegraph v. Central Office Telephone Co., Inc., 524 U.S. 214 

(1998), reaffirmed the validity of the filed rate doctrine in telecommunications law.  The plain 

language of Central Office indicates that claims for damages arising wholly from rates and 

services contained in a properly filed tariff are barred by the filed rate doctrine.  See id., at 226 

(“Because respondent asks for privileges not included in the tariff, its state-law claims are 

barred . . . .”).  In Central Office, the issue was a dispute between a long distance provider and one 

of its wholesale customers.  The provision of long distance services operates under a “tariff” 

scheme wherein every common carrier must file a tariff with the FCC “showing all charges,” and 
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“the classifications, practices, and regulations affecting such charges.”  47 U.S.C. § 203(a).  Under 

section 203(c), a common carrier may not, “extend to any person any privileges or facilities in 

[long distance] communication, or employ or enforce any classifications, regulations, or practices 

affecting such charges, except as specified in such a schedule.”  47 U.S.C. § 203(c).  Contrast this 

with the filing requirement in Section 252 at issue here, which states that the filed interconnection 

agreement shall contain, “a detailed schedule of itemized charges for interconnection and each 

service or network element included in the agreement.”  47 U.S.C. § 252(a)(1).   

The Supreme Court specifically relied upon the statutory language of Section 203 to 

determine that the filed rate doctrine operated to preclude not only private contracts for rates 

different from those in the filed tariff, but also private contracts for services different from those 

in the filed tariff.  See Central Office, supra, 524 U.S. at 223-24.  Thus, whether a tariff sets forth 

a rate or a service has no significance to the filed rate doctrine.  AT&T v. Central Office is 

therefore properly read to bar the awarding of damages under such circumstances.  Indeed, the 

very point of the filed rate doctrine is to bar damages arising wholly from rates and services 

contained in a properly filed tariff.  If an ILEC gives a customer a preferential rate or term of 

service in an unfiled interconnection agreement that departs from the filed tariffs, the filed rate 

doctrine does not permit a court or this Commission to attempt to remedy the alleged harm by 

then extending the unfiled rates to other customers, such as Complainants.  Thus, the filed rate 

doctrine bars Complainants’ requested relief.  

Accordingly, any relief that the Commission might grant to Complainants would violate 

the filed rate doctrine.  The Commission should dismiss the Amended Complaint in its entirety.   
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CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, Qwest respectfully submits that this Commission should grant 

Qwest’s motion to dismiss, and thus dismiss the Amended Complaint in its entirety. 
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